

# Probus Club of Windsor Inc. CONSTITUTION

### 1. NAME

The name of the club is the Probus Club of Windsor Inc.

### 2. DEFINITIONS

"Act" means the legislation that provides for the incorporation of associations in the Australian State or Territory in which the Club is formed, and any Regulations made under that Act.

"Articles" means the Articles of Accreditation shown in bold and italic typeface which can only be changed by PSPL following consultation with all accredited Probus Clubs.

"Committee" and "Management Committee" (where referred to in the Articles), means the Management Committee of the Club.

"General meeting" means a meeting of members of the Club and includes an annual general meeting.

"Ordinary Member" means a member other than an Honorary Member, Life Member or Non-active Member.

"Regulator" means a body that ensures compliance with relevant legislation.

"Special Resolution" means a resolution that requires not less than three-quarters of the members voting at a general meeting, whether in person or by proxy, to vote in favour of the resolution.

"Voting Members" means Ordinary Members and Life Members.

# 3. APPLICATION OF MODEL RULES OR MODEL CONSTITUTION AND THE ACT

Where permitted by the Act, the Model Rules or Model Constitution do not apply. Any reference in this constitution to the Act only applies if the Club is incorporated.

# 4. AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

The purpose of the Club is to advance intellectual and cultural interests among persons who are retired or semiretired. To this end, the Club will:

- (a) hold regular meetings and arrange activities that provide opportunities for members to stay engaged and connected through social interaction.
- (b) strive to be seen as a worthwhile organisation by the local community.
- (c) be non-political and non-sectarian. The Club will not endorse any candidate for public office and will not take any action with the intention of influencing the policies or decisions of governments. However, the merits of any public question may be the subject of study or discussion at a Club meeting for the information of members.
- (d) not be, or be seen to be, a fundraising body. The Club may participate in community service activities provided that such activities do not involve the raising of funds for the benefit of a third party, including for a specific purpose, cause, or charity, and that individual participation is entirely voluntary.

The Club is authorised to use the Probus name and logo for the achievement of its aims and objectives. The Probus name and logo are registered trademarks of PSPL and must not be used for any commercial purpose without PSPL's written approval.

# 5. MEMBERSHIP

- (a) Membership is open to retired and semi-retired persons.
- (b) Applicants for membership, with the exception of the foundation members, must be approved by the Management Committee.
- (c) No person will be denied membership of the Club for reasons of race, religion, political persuasion, or any other reason that would constitute unlawful discrimination.
- (d) To become a member of the Club, a person must complete a Membership Application Form giving consent to being a member.
- (e) The Secretary must, as soon as practicable, advise an applicant for membership in writing of the decision of the Committee to accept or reject their application. No reason needs to be given for the rejection of an application.
- (f) The membership of the Club consists of Ordinary Members, Honorary Members, Life Members, and Non-active Members. The maximum number of members in these categories (if any) will be as provided for in the Club's Standing Resolutions.
- (g) A person may be made an Honorary Member by Special Resolution of members at a general meeting in recognition of their contribution to the Club. Honorary Members are not required to pay annual subscriptions. They are entitled to all the benefits of membership, except that they are not eligible to be a Committee member or to vote at general meetings.
- (h) A member may be made a Life Member by Special Resolution of members at a general meeting in recognition of outstanding service to the Club. Life Members are not required to pay annual subscriptions. They are entitled to all the benefits of membership and are eligible to vote at general meetings.
- (i) The Committee may classify a member as a Non-active Member who, because of illness, physical disability or for personal carer reasons, has been granted leave of absence by the Club. Non-active Members may not be required to pay annual subscriptions and are not eligible to be a Committee member or to vote at general meetings.
- (j) An applicant's membership becomes effective from the time the member's name is placed on the Register of Members and remains effective until such time as the member's name is removed from the Register of Members.

### 6. RESIGNATION AND TERMINATION OF MEMBERSHIP

- (a) A member may resign at any time in writing addressed to the Secretary.
- (b) A member convicted of an indictable offence may have their membership terminated by a decision of the Committee without any right of appeal.
- (c) Membership may also be terminated in accordance with clauses 14.(d) and 22.(d).

### 7. MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

- (a) The Club will be managed by a Management Committee comprising a President, one or more Vice Presidents, a Secretary, a Treasurer and such other members as provided for in the Club's Standing Resolutions.
- (b) The office of a Committee member becomes vacant if the member:
  - (i) dies or otherwise ceases to be a member of the Club;
  - (ii) becomes bankrupt;
  - (iii) is absent from three consecutive meetings of the Committee without the consent of the Committee;
  - (iv) is removed from office by the members under clause 7.(d); or
  - (v) resigns from office in writing addressed to the Club.
- (c) A casual vacancy on the Committee may be filled by a member appointed by the Committee.

- (d) Members may remove a Committee member from office at any time by Special Resolution passed at a general meeting. The Committee member must be given a reasonable opportunity at the general meeting to show cause why they should not be removed from office. There is no right of appeal.
- (e) The quorum for a meeting of the Committee is a majority of Committee members. No business may be conducted unless a quorum is present.
- (f) A motion is carried if a majority of Committee members present vote in favour of the motion.
- (g) Voting at a Committee meeting will be by show of hands or by other electronic means agreed to by the Committee. Each Committee member has one vote. In the case of an equality of votes, the chair of the meeting will have a second or casting vote.
- (h) The minutes of each Committee meeting, when confirmed, must be signed by the chair of the meeting at which they are confirmed verifying their accuracy.
- (i) The Committee has the authority to exercise general control and management of the Club, except where required to be exercised by a general meeting. This includes the exercise of all powers conferred by the Act. The Committee may delegate certain matters to one or more of its members or to sub-committees.
- (j) Meetings of the Committee will be held as and when it determines provided the Committee meets at least once every 3 months. Notice requirements for such meetings will be as provided for in the Club's Standing Resolutions.
- (k) The Committee may permit persons who are not physically present at a meeting to participate by using technology which allows those attending to simultaneously communicate with each other. A Committee member who participates in a meeting using technology under this clause is taken to be present at the meeting.
- (I) If, for any reason, the Committee is unable to meet, it may pass a circulating resolution provided the proposed resolution is approved in writing by all Committee members.

# 8. ELECTION OF THE MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

- (a) An annual general meeting for the election of the Management Committee must be held on or before 31 March each year.
- (b) Management Committee members will be elected annually in accordance with the Club's Standing Resolutions.
- (c) Nominations by members for election to the Committee for the ensuing year must be called for at the general meeting preceding the general meeting in February. Nominations must be lodged with the Secretary no later than the February general meeting.
- (d) If an election is required, the Committee must appoint a returning officer to oversee the voting process. The returning officer must not be a person who is standing for election to the Committee.
- (e) Voting will be in accordance with the procedures set out in clause 12.(j).
- (f) If only one nomination has been received for a position, then the member nominated is deemed elected.
- (g) If more than one nomination has been received for a position, a vote must be taken immediately for that position.
- (h) If no nominations have been received for a position, the returning officer must call for nominations from the floor of the meeting for that position. If more than one nomination is received from the floor, a vote must be taken immediately for that position.
- (i) If a nomination from the floor for a position is not received, the returning officer must declare the position vacant. The vacancy may be filled in accordance with clause 7.(c).
- (j) The newly elected Management Committee will take office at the conclusion of the annual general meeting.

- (k) Subject to clause 7.(b) and (d), a Committee member holds office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting.
- (I) The maximum number of consecutive terms (if any) for which a Committee member may hold office in the same role will be as provided for in the Club's Standing Resolutions.

# 9. ROLE OF SECRETARY

The Secretary must:

- (a) keep accurate minutes, in written or electronic form, of all proceedings of Committee meetings and general meetings, including the names of those in attendance;
- (b) maintain the Register of Members;
- (c) except for the financial records of the Club, keep custody of all books, documents and securities (if any) of the Club; and
- (d) perform any other duty or function imposed on the Secretary by this constitution.

### 10. ROLE OF TREASURER

The Treasurer must:

- (a) maintain and keep custody of the financial records and funds of the Club;
- (b) submit financial reports to general meetings as provided for in the Club's Standing Resolutions;
- (c) ensure that at least one other Committee member has access to the financial records of the Club; and
- (d) deposit all funds received by the Club into the designated account or accounts of the Club within 2 business days of receipt.

# 11. PUBLIC OFFICER

Where required by the Act, a Public Officer must be appointed by the Committee.

# 12. MEETINGS OF MEMBERS

- (a) The general meetings and annual general meeting of the Club must be held as provided for in the Club's Standing Resolutions.
- (b) General meetings will be held at such times and places as determined by members.
- (c) The quorum for a general meeting is 25% of the total number of Voting Members or 10 Voting Members (whichever is the greater). No business may be conducted unless a quorum is present.
- (d) The Secretary must give members at least 14 days' notice of a general meeting unless a Special Resolution is proposed, in which case 21 days' notice must be given.
- (e) A notice of any general meeting must advise the time, date, and place of the meeting and the business to be considered at the meeting.
- (f) The Committee may convene a general meeting whenever it thinks fit.
- (g) A general meeting must be convened on a request to the Secretary by not less than 10% of the total number of Voting Members, provided the request is for a proper purpose, is in writing, states the purpose, includes any proposed motions, and is signed by the members making the request.
- (h) If the Committee does not convene a general meeting within one month after the date on which the request is made, the members making the request may convene the meeting.
- (i) At least 21 days' notice of a general meeting convened under clause 12.(g) must be given to members stating the purpose of the meeting and any proposed motions.

- (j) A resolution of members can only be passed at a general meeting. Voting on any resolution at a general meeting will be by a show of hands unless the members decide that a vote is to be by secret ballot. Each Voting Member has one vote. Proxy votes will be counted. In the case of an equality of votes, the chair of the meeting will have a second or casting vote. If a ballot is required by members present, the chair must appoint a returning officer to conduct the ballot.
- (k) A member may appoint another member to act as their proxy at meetings. To be valid, a form appointing a proxy must be received by the Secretary at least 48 hours before the commencement of the meeting.
- (I) A motion is carried if a majority of Voting Members present (in person or by proxy) and voting at the meeting votes in favour of the motion.
- (m) The President or, in the absence or inability of the President, a Vice President, will chair all general meetings. If neither are available, the members present must appoint a member to chair the meeting.
- (n) The minutes of each general meeting, when confirmed, must be signed by the chair of the meeting at which they are confirmed verifying their accuracy.
- (o) A notice of motion by a member (other than to amend this constitution or the Club's Standing Resolutions) must be submitted to the Secretary, in writing, at least 21 days before the general meeting at which the motion is to be proposed.
- (p) A notice of motion by a member to amend this constitution must be submitted to the Secretary, in writing, at least 28 days before the general meeting at which the motion is to be proposed.
- (q) The Committee may permit persons who are not physically present at a general meeting to participate by using technology which allows those attending to simultaneously communicate with each other. A member who participates in a meeting using technology under this clause is taken to be present at the meeting.

### 13. INFORMATION

- (a) On formation and thereafter each year, the Club will provide information required by PSPL concerning membership, meeting arrangements and Management Committee members for the ensuing year.
- (b) The Club will also provide information on other matters as and when reasonably required by PSPL.

# **14. SUBSCRIPTIONS**

- (a) Members of the Club must pay a joining fee (if any) and an annual subscription to the Club as provided for in the Club's Standing Resolutions.
- (b) The annual subscription should be sufficient to cover the capitation fees required by PSPL, which include insurance coverage.
- (c) The annual subscription and joining fee (if any) must be determined each year by members at a general meeting before the end of February each year.
- (d) The annual subscription is due and payable on 31 March each year. Should the annual subscription of a member remain unpaid by 31 May, the Committee may terminate the member's membership.
- (e) For new members, pro rata annual subscriptions will be payable as follows:
  - (i) if joining in the quarter ending 30 June full subscription;
  - (ii) if joining in the quarter ending 30 September three-quarters of the subscription;
  - (iii) if joining in the quarter ending 31 December one-half of the subscription;
  - (iv) if joining in the quarter ending 31 March one-quarter of the subscription.
- (f) Notwithstanding the date on which a person joins the Club, the joining fee (if any) is payable in full.